#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PAUL	DUROUSSEAU,	
------	-------------	--

Appellant,

V.

CASE NO. SC08-68 L.T. CASE NO. 03-CF-10182

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.	
	/

APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH

JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL

COUNTY, FLORIDA

## AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

## NADA M. CAREY

ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. **0648825** 301 S. MONROE STREET, SUITE 401 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 606-8500

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

##

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

## GUILT PHASE

## Tyresa Mack Murder-Prosecution

Family members found Tyresa Mack, 24, dead in her apartment around 8 p.m. on July 26, 1999. Mack lived in one of two upstairs apartments located above businesses in a commercial area. At the time of her death, she lived with her three children, ages 7, 3, and 1-1/2. 23:750-760.

Mack's sister, Sherabia Mack, testified she arrived at her sister's building around 7 p.m. The door leading to the upstairs apartments was locked, and no one answered the doorbell, which was working. Sherabia went to her grandmother's house, three blocks away, and returned with her stepfather, Lamar Odom. The bottom door was now unlocked, and they went upstairs and knocked on Mack's door but got no response. Mack's neighbor, Amady Sare, came out and told them he hadn't seen Mack since that morning. They broke down the door and moved a sofa

 $<sup>^{3}\,\</sup>mathrm{The}$  sentencing order is attached as  $\mathbf{Appendix}\ \mathbf{A.}$ 

that had been pushed up against the door. Sherabia said her sister had been putting the sofa up against the door because the lock was broken. Mack's body was on the bed in her bedroom. An "X and O" heart pendant necklace and matching bracelet, which Mack wore every day, were missing, as was the living room television set. 23:764-772. Sherabia testified that her sister (Tyresa Mack) had met a man who had a good job and drove a truck but she didn't know the man's name. She gave police the names of Johnny Parker, a neighbor who had been looking for Tyresa Mack that day, and Greg Williams, another neighbor. 23:777-790.

The evidence technician testified that numerous items were scattered throughout the master bedroom and drawers had been pulled out and ransacked. Mack's body was nude from the waist down. Her torn underwear lay underneath her, and a pair of pants, which matched the shirt she wore, was lying on the bed. A towel was under her head. A cord, which appeared cut or ripped, was draped around her neck. The cord appeared to match a white phone with a ripped or cut cord that was on the floor of the bedroom. Mack's purse was on the bed, empty, and it appeared someone had pilfered through the purse. 24:813,829-838.

Other than the bedroom, the apartment was orderly. A Victoria's Secret pink striped bag containing several money bills was on the bathroom floor. Neither the bag nor the bills

were collected by police. 24:838-852, 890. There was a green telephone on the floor in the living room, disconnected, and without a cord. The cord was never found. 24:816, 829-832.

Durousseau's prints were not found anywhere in the apartment. 24:856-860.

Nicole Jackson testified that she and Mack had looked for jobs earlier that day. Jackson arrived at Mack's apartment around 9:30 a.m., and was let in the downstairs door by Adam Moss, who was fixing the lock on Tyresa's private upstairs entry door. Mack was wearing an X and O necklace with matching bracelet. When they left at 10 a.m., Moss had already left. The lock was still broken, so they pushed the love seat in front of the door and went out through the kitchen door. 24:904-912, 920-925, 928. Jackson took Mack home around 1 p.m. 24:913-916.

Tezalyn McFadden testified she spoke to Mack on the phone in the morning and again around 1 p.m. and 1:25 p.m. During the 1:05 call, McFadden offered to drive Mack to the hospital for her son's 3 p.m. appointment that same day. During the 1:25 call, she asked Mack to give her a wake-up call in case she fell asleep. During that conversation, there was a pause of several seconds. McFadden never got the wake-up call, and when she called Mack at 2:50 p.m., there was no answer. 24:933-959. Phone records showed there were three calls that day between

McFadden and Mack, a 15-minute call at 9:11 a.m., and 1-minute calls at 1:05 and 1:25 p.m. 31:2195-2205.

Joy Williams testified she was standing by the bus stop near Mack's building about 1:00, 1:30, or 2:00 that afternoon when a tall, skinny, brown-skinned man came from upstairs carrying a television. He walked towards a red car and did not seem to be in a hurry. When the man got to the trunk of the car, she looked away. Williams identified Durousseau in court as the man she saw that day. Rufus Pinkney was also on the corner when this occurred. 24:973-980.

Rufus Pinkney testified he was on the corner waiting for the bus to take him to work that day. Pinkney arrived at the bus stop around noon and caught his bus shortly after 1 p.m.

Williams was there when he arrived. While he was waiting, he saw a light-skinned black man, over six feet tall, real skinny, with a low haircut. The man, who was wearing a work uniform, came out of the downstairs door in Mack's building, walked to a red car, opened the trunk, and stood behind it for about ten minutes. Pinkney didn't see the man place anything in the trunk or remove anything from it. The man then went back upstairs into Mack's building. His hands were empty. He did not look nervous, hurried, or like he was trying to hide. Pinkney identified the man in court as Durousseau. 24:992-1000,

store when Pinkney saw the man come downstairs. Pinkney's bus came about ten minutes later. 25:1008-1010.

A representative of the Jacksonville Transportation

Authority testified that on July 26, 1999, buses were scheduled to stop at the Florida and Union bus stop at 12:17, 12:38, 12:59, 1:20, and 1:41 p.m. 25:1029-1039.

Detective McKean testified that when he told Durousseau on August 25, 2003, that he was being charged with the murder of Tyresa Mack, Durousseau said, "I don't know no Teresa Mack."

When told that Mack was the girl that was killed on Florida Avenue, Durousseau said, "I don't know that girl." 25:1042-1043.

The state presented evidence that Durousseau worked at Goodyear from July 1, 1999, to August 26, 1999. The employees wore navy pants and shirt. The shirt had logos with the employee's first name and Goodyear in prominent yellow lettering. Durousseau's hours were 7:30 to 5, with lunch from 12 to 1. 25:1056-1070.

Mack's three children attended Little Angels Daycare March-June of 1999, as did the two Durousseau children. On July 26, 1999, a van picked Mack's children up in the morning and returned them to their grandmother's house in the afternoon.

The director and another employee testified they had never seen

Durousseau and Mack speak or interact. 25:1079-1084, 34:2764-2772.

Dr. Margaret Arruza conducted the autopsy on Mack. Mack was 5'4" and weighed 122 pounds. Her nose, cheek, tongue, and lips had abrasions, which could have been caused by her face being pressed into a towel. The abrasions were on both sides of her face, indicating she was moving her head back and forth. Arruza did not examine her back to see if there was bruising caused by someone being on top of her back and pressing her into the mattress. She had petichiae, small hemorrhages in the whites of the eyes, which is caused by increased pressure. lungs were not congested but this didn't mean she died from something other than asphyxia. There was a remote possibility that Mack died from a heart attack during the struggle while having her faced pressed into the mattress. The telephone cord around her neck was draped loosely, wrapped twice, like a necklace, with no knots. Arruza found no injuries to the neck consistent with having been caused by the cord and could not determine whether the cord contributed to Mack's death or was placed there before death. In Arruza's opinion, strangulation can occur without noticeable trauma to the neck. Arruza found marks on Mack's wrists and arms, which were consistent with restraints being placed on them. Mack's blouse was torn in the middle. She was wearing earrings and a watch, which was loose.

Arruza couldn't say whether the watch corresponded to the pattern marks on Mack's wrist. Sperm were in her vagina but there was no vaginal trauma. The cause of death was asphyxia, or lack of oxygen to the brain. 30:1973-1995, 2059-2076.

Dr. Coughlin, an FDLE serologist, analyzed oral, anal, and vaginal slides. Coughlin found no sperm on the oral and anal slides but found intact sperm (heads, mid-pieces, and tails) on the vaginal slides. Intact sperm meant it was collected very soon after deposition. Because police told him to focus on sexual activity, Coughlin tested only items possibly linked to sexual activity and did not test hairs, fibers, or a cigar butt that were submitted to him. 28:1579-1635.

Sukhan Warf, a DNA analyst, found no male DNA on the white telephone in Mack's bedroom or the white phone cord wrapped around her neck. Seven hairs found on the phone did not match Durousseau's DNA. Male DNA on the green phone did not match Durousseau. No DNA testing was done on Mack's blouse, bra, underwear, or pants. 29:1762-1782.

DNA analyst Sheree Enfinger obtained a single source full profile on Mack's vaginal swabs that matched Durousseau.

29:1810-1819. A wash rag, two towels, and pillowcases were all negative for semen. She did not test the bed linens or Mack's underwear, bra, or blouse, on the assumption that the person who had sexual activity with Mack was the killer. 29:1872-1883.

### Tyresa Mack Murder-Defense Case

Rodney McKean, the lead detective, testified there were doorbells on either side of the door to the stairwell that led from the street up to the apartments. The door was self-locking and could be opened from the inside [without a key] or from the outside with a key. McKean said the Victoria's Secret bag was never collected by police. The papers that were scattered on the floor and bed were released to Mack's family two weeks after she was killed and were not processed for fingerprints. There were money bills in the pink-and-white striped bag. McKean saw Kenneth Mack, now dead, at the scene but did not interview him. He tried to interview Johnny Parker at the scene but Parker fled. He met Greg Williams and took photos of bite and scratch marks on Williams on July 28. 33:2694-2714, 34:2722-2728.

Detective McKean testified he interviewed Joy Williams on August 10, 1999. At that time, she said the black male exited Mack's apartment on July 26 around 12:30 p.m. The man walked to the rear of a vehicle and opened the trunk, and then returned to the apartment building and walked upstairs. Moments later, he came out of the building carrying a large TV. He placed the TV in the trunk and left the area. 34:2794-2795.

Officer Milton Bowles testified the neighborhood was a high crime area and drugs were sold at the gas station across the street from Mack's apartment. Bowles didn't speak to anyone

from the station or the two businesses, one of which was a café, on the bottom floor of Mack's building. Kenneth Mack, Tyresa Mack's brother, flagged him down at the scene and was inside the apartment when Bowles got there. 33:2610-2630.

Timothy Look, an FDLE crime lab analyst, testified the top of the mattress was negative for blood and semen. 31:2134-2135.

Adam Moss testified he arrived at Mack's apartment no earlier than 10:20 a.m. the day Mack was killed. He repaired the bottom lock and put a rag in the hole where the top lock had been. Mack and another woman were there when he arrived. Mack received a phone call and was on the phone arguing with the guy when Moss left. He pushed the love seat against the door and left through the kitchen shortly after 11 a.m. Kenneth Mack accused Moss of killing Mack, and the police interviewed him for six hours. 33:2642-2653.

Sherabia Mack said her sister had recently had her car repossessed, was out of work, and was having financial problems. Sherabia said Greg Williams was a friend of hers.

Latasha Bell, Mack's sister, testified that Greg Williams sometimes did odd jobs for Mack, like taking out the trash.

Johnny Parker was a neighbor with whom they had grown up. Bell said all of Mack's TV sets were working at the time of her death. However, in her deposition, Bell said the missing TV was broken. 33:2662-2672.

The distance from Durousseau's workplace to Traffic Bureau on Haynes Street, was 14.3 miles, and the driving time between 11:30 and 12:30 was 15.5 minutes. The return trip was 18 minutes. 34:2773-2777.

Dr. Stanton Kessler, a forensic pathologist, 4 conducted an independent review of all three autopsies. He also reviewed the crime scene photos. 32:2428.

Dr. Kessler said nonconsensual sexual intercourse usually is a violent act, producing tears, bruising, swelling, blood, and trauma to the vaginal area, which is easy to traumatize because mucosa tears easily. 32:2427.

Dr. Kessler said if wrist ligature is suspected, the wrist should be cut into to see if there is hemorrhaging. This was not done in the Mack case. In Kessler's opinion, the marks on Mack's wrists did not look like ligature marks. A ligature is something tied tight enough to produce skin bulges. Here, the marks were extremely faint and were not typical ligature marks. One mark looked like a scab, like a bug bite that had been scratched. Some darker marks looked like skin fold marks, and another mark could be an irritation of the skin. You cannot

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Dr. Kessler spent most of his career as Chief Medical Examiner for the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, where he also trained forensic pathologists. He was on staff at Harvard Medical School, has lectured extensively, and has been published 55 times in peer-reviewed journals. He has testified over 200 times, 99% of the time for the state. 32:2415-2419.

tell what the marks are without cutting underneath. The marks could be defensive wounds. Also, the marks were not where a ligature would be. The marks could be from Mack's bracelet, which was on her left wrist, or her watch, which hung loosely on her right wrist. 32:2429-2435.

The cord around Mack's neck also was not a ligature. The cord was loose, like jewelry. Nothing was tied, and it was not compressing the neck. The cord had nothing to do with her death. He could not tell if the cord was placed there before or after death. Mack's lungs were not congested, suggesting that she developed and died from heart arrhythmia while being asphyxiated. It would still be an asphyxia death. She probably was suffocated with a towel by someone sitting or kneeling on top of her. The medical examiner could have looked under the skin on her back for hemorrhage to confirm this. 32:2438-2445.

Dr. Kessler said you would expect some trauma in suffocation caused by manual act. You could possibly strangle someone without leaving marks if the person was very old, weak, and unable to respond, but usually you see something. 32:2463-2464.

Durousseau testified he had been married for eleven years.

34:2796-2797. In July 1999, he lived with his wife and their
two daughters in the Washington Heights Apartments. He worked
at Goodyear Truck Tire Service. His uniform consisted of a dark

"Goodyear Truck Tire Service" on the other side, in yellow writing an inch and a half high. 34:2798-2800, 2851.

He met Mack in April 1999 at University Hospital, when he was there with his daughter to get shots. She dropped a baby bottle, his daughter picked it up, and they began talking. He saw Mack about fifteen times after that and had sex with her at her apartment. 34:2800-2802.

On July 26, 1999, he went to see her around 12:15. He had gone to Haynes Street about a ticket and was in the area. was in his uniform and parked his red Mazda in front of her building, like he always did. Her doorbell didn't work, so he hit his keys on her kitchen window, and she came down and let him in. She was wearing a black robe, panties and bra. He went in and out the kitchen door because the lock on the front door was broken, and a large couch was blocking the door. They had sex on top of the sheets. The TV was broken, the on/off button wouldn't work, and she asked him to put it in the dumpster. asked if he could keep it, and she said yes. She walked him down to the front door and waited while he opened his trunk. They came back upstairs, he grabbed the TV, and they went back down. She asked to borrow some money, and he got change for a \$50 bill at the restaurant downstairs and gave her \$40 at the front door. He left around 1 o'clock and got back to work about 1:25. He took Mack's TV home and fixed it by sticking a pencil in it to turn it on. A week later, he heard she had been shot. When asked by police in July 2003 if he knew her, he said no because he already had been charged with two murders and was scared. 34:2808-2809, 2852-2852, 34:2858.

## Nikia Kilpatrick Murder-Prosecution

Kilpatrick was found dead in her apartment by her cousin,
Sara Anthony, just after midnight on January 1, 2003. At the
time of her death, Kilpatrick lived at the Spanish Oaks
Apartments, on Arlington Road, with her two children, the oldest
aged 2 years and the youngest 11 months.

Anthony, who also lived at Spanish Oaks, testified that she walked by Kilpatrick's apartment on Monday, December 30, at 6 a.m. and saw the bedroom light on. When Anthony went by that night, no one answered the door and she also noticed a strange smell. The following night, December 31, there was still no answer, and the smell was worse. Just after midnight, Anthony beat on the window, and Kilpatrick's older son came to the window and opened the blinds. Anthony saw Kilpatrick and her younger son lying on the floor in the hallway and alerted police. 25:1112-1136.

John Fraschello, the evidence technician, arrived at 11:20 p.m. on January 1, 2003. The apartment was in disarray.

Kilpatrick's nude, partially decomposed body was partly in the

bedroom, partly in the hallway outside the bathroom. She had a coaxial cable around her neck. A heater in one of the bedrooms had a cut or torn cord, which was never found. Clothing was scattered across the floor. The drawers in the bedroom were pulled out. There were no signs of forced entry. The sliding doors to the back patio, the only other exit, were closed, and the safety bar was in the locked position. No latent prints of value were found. 25:1166-1196.

Rhonda Sherrer, Kilpatrick's sister, testified she was at Kilpatrick's apartment on Sunday, the 29th, between 9 and 10 p.m. While she was there, Kilpatrick received a phone call and was whispering as if she didn't want to be heard. Sherrer called her sister when she got home, at 10:30 or 11:00, but the conversation was brief. Sherrer thought her sister had company or was expecting company. Sherrer called Kilpatrick the next morning but there was no answer. Kilpatrick's Victoria's Secret purse was missing after she was killed. 26:1208-1218.

Shantrell Green testified she and Kilpatrick were walking one day in the fall of 2002 when Durousseau pulled up and began talking to them. Kilpatrick gave Durousseau Green's phone number so he could take Green out. Durousseau called Green the same day and came over to take her out. As he arrived, Rashawn Kilpatrick, Green's then-boyfriend (and Nikia Kilpatrick's uncle) charged into the bathroom and hit Green. Green and

Rashawn had words and he left. Durousseau said he had lingerie and jewelry in the car, and Nikia Kilpatrick went downstairs with him to see it. Green and Durousseau then went out. They went to the movies and to Wendy's and then he brought her home. He was a perfect gentleman. At that time, Kilpatrick was dating a tall, white guy who made lots of money. 26:1238-1251.

Sara Anthony confirmed Green's account of Durousseau's visit, saying Nikia Kilpatrick was there when Durousseau came to her apartment in December 2002 to take Green out. Durousseau said he sold lingerie, jewelry, and lotion, and Kilpatrick went downstairs with him to look. Durousseau took Green out and brought her home that same night. 25:1112-1121.

Natoca Durousseau, Durousseau's wife, said she took her husband to an apartment complex off the Arlington Expressway on December 29, around 8:30 or 9:00, to watch a football game with friends. She saw him go upstairs, and then left. He later called to say he was on his way home and got home around 1 or 2 a.m. 26:1256-1272.

Dr. Arruza, who conducted the autopsy on Kilpatrick, testified Kilpatrick was 5'5", 145 pounds. Her body was decomposing. A black coaxial cable was tight around her neck, placed on top of a pajama top. The cord was tied with a slipknot. There was no bruising on the neck, indicating little force was applied to the ligature. Kilpatrick had blunt trauma,

or bruising, to her head in three different places. She was pregnant. Her lungs were congested, the result of suffocation. There was no evidence her feet or arms had been tied in any manner. She was wearing five earrings, and there was no indication any jewelry had been removed. Sperm was present in her vagina but there was no vaginal trauma. Arruza said you may or may not see trauma as the result of forcible sexual assault. The cause of death was strangulation by ligature. 30:1995-2014.

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