IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PAUL DUROUSSEAU,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. SC08-68

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

THOMAS D. WINOKUR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 906336

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

This Court further noted that the message Conde wrote on the back of his third victim indicating that she was the "third" and "[see] if you can catch me," "was evidence of premeditated intent to kill." <u>Id.</u> "This evidence was clearly relevant given Conde's theory of defense that he killed in an 'instantaneous combustion' of unexpected and unplanned emotions." <u>Id.</u>

Appellant's murders contain as many meaningful similarities, as the murders described in Conde. Like Conde, all of the Appellant's victims were killed by strangulation. All of Appellant's victims were found within a five mile radius of each other in their apartments, nude from the waist down, with ligatures wrapped around their neck. Conde's victims were all found face-down and redressed. Matching DNA evidence was found on each of the Defendant's three victims. Matching DNA evidence was found in only

some of Conde's victims. As with Conde, these similarities demonstrate that the court below did not abuse its discretion in admitting the similar-fact evidence.

In short, the numerous and striking similarities between the three murders, combined with evidence that Appellant sexually battered each of the victims around the time of their deaths,

- 39 -

constituted clear and convincing evidence that Appellant murdered Nikia Kilpatrick and Shawanda McCalister, such that they could be admitted at trial below.⁶ Moreover, numerous, exhaustive, and specific similarities pervade the murders, showing that evidence of the Kilpatrick and McCalister murders were relevant to prove Appellant's identity as the murderer, as well as his intent and premeditation to kill. The court did not abuse its discretion in admitting this evidence.

Moreover, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining that the danger of unfair prejudice outweighed the probative value of the evidence. As this Court noted in Wuornos, "[a]ll evidence of a crime, including that regarding the murder in question, 'prejudices' the defense case. Wuornos at 1007. "The real question is whether that prejudice is so unfair that it should be deemed unlawful." Id. The State disagrees with Appellant's contention that the "probative value of the Williams rule evidence is minimal" (IB 74). As in Wuornos, "[t]he nature of the various crimes was relevant in establishing a pattern of similarities among the homicides." Id. The State submits that the similar-fact evidence was highly probative of the matters for which the State sought its While the evidence certainly admission, as argued above. "prejudiced" Appellant's case, such prejudice was not "unfair."

⁶Regarding Appellant's argument that he was no more than a "likely suspect" in the Kilpatrick and McCalister murders (IB 64), it should be noted that Appellant was indicted for both murders.

Nor did the similar-fact evidence become an impermissible "feature of the trial." First, it should be noted that Appellant had been charged with the murders of Nikia Kilpatrick and Shawanda McCalister, as well as Nichole Williams, Jovanna Jefferson, and Surita Cohen, by separate indictment. In its memorandum supporting the admissibility of the simiar-fact evidence, the State asserted that evidence of each of these homicides was admissible as similar-fact evidence in this trial, but chose to limit the similar-fact evidence to the Kilpatrick and McCalister homicides, in order to "facilitate more streamlined discovery and a quicker, more efficient trial and (2) to avoid similar crime evidence becoming a feature of the trial" (VI 1024).

Second, while Appellant correctly notes that more of the guilt-phase testimony was dedicated to the similar-fact evidence than to the charged offense, this fact alone does not show that the similar-fact evidence became an "impermissible feature of the trial." The court in Townsend addressed this matter as follows:

> We next turn our attention to Townsend's contention that the Williams rule evidence became a feature of the trial. It is true that the transcript contains over twice as many pages of testimony relative to the collateral crimes as there are pages relative to the crimes for which Townsend was on trial. It is also true that majority of the exhibits involve the а collateral crimes. However, given the number of similar crimes Townsend admitted committing which were so similar to the three for which he was being tried, the number of pages of testimony and exhibits should not be the sole test by any means.

> > - 41 -

<u>Townsend</u> at 617. The same is true here. Counting the transcript pages devoted to the similar-fact evidence does not *ipso facto* demonstrate that such evidence became an impermissible feature of the trial.

Nor is the mere number of collateral crimes presented determine this matter, as this Court recognized in <u>Wuornos</u>. In response to Wuornos' argument that the similar-fact evidence amounted to "needless overkill," this Court noted that the evidence of a "pattern of similarities among the homicides" rebutted her suggestion that she was the victim in the charged crime, which would likely have been accepted by the jury without the substantial amount of similar-fact evidence. Wuornos at 1006. Again, the same is true here.

Instead, a proper "feature of the trial" analysis examines whether collateral crime evidence "was given undue emphasis by the state and was made a focal point of the trial." State v. Lee, 531 So.2d 133 (Fla. 1988). The State here limited the similar-fact evidence to that necessary to convince the jury that Appellant killed Nikia Kilpatrick and Shawanda McCalister, and to show the similarities. An examination of the State's opening statement and closing argument shows that the prosecution did not unduly emphasize the similar-fact evidence. The closing focuses upon Appellant's guilt of the charged crime, as well as the similarities between the charged crime and the collateral crimes. Any substantial discussion of the collateral crimes addresses only Appellant's arguments that he did not kill Kilpatrick and McCalister. Accordingly, the State neither gave undue emphasis to the similar-fact evidence, nor made it a focal point

- 42 -

of the trial. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in permitting the State to admit the similar-fact evidence, or in denying the motion for new trial on the ground that such evidence became an impermissible feature of the trial.

ISSUE II

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL OF FELONY MURDER WITH ROBBERY AS THE UNDERLYING OFFENSE, AND WAS THERE LEGALLY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE THAT THE MURDER WAS MOTIVATED BY PECUNIARY GAIN? (Restated)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court's denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal is reviewed on appeal by the *de novo* standard of review to determine solely if the evidence is legally sufficient. <u>Jones v. State</u>, 790 So.2d 1194 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001).

MERITS

In considering legal sufficiency of evidence, the trial court and appellate court must consider the evidence and all reasonable inferences from the evidence in a light most favorable to the State. <u>Jones v. State</u>, 790 So.2d 1194, 1197 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001). See Tibbs v. State, 397 So.2d 1120, 1123 (Fla. 1981):

> As a general proposition, an appellate court should not retry a case or reweigh conflicting evidence submitted to a jury or other trier of fact. Rather, the concern on appeal must be whether, after all conflicts in the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom have been resolved in favor of the verdict on appeal, there is substantial, competent evidence to support the verdict and judgment. Legal sufficiency alone, as opposed to evidentiary weight, is the appropriate concern of an appellate tribunal.

In short, if the State has presented evidence to support every element of the crime, then a motion for judgment of acquittal must be denied and affirmed on appeal. <u>See State v. Williams</u>, 742 So.2d 509, 511 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999). The trial court cannot grant the motion

- 44 -

unless, when viewed in a light most favorable to the State, the evidence does not establish a prima facie case of guilt as a matter of law. <u>Dupree v. State</u>, 705 So. 2d 90, 93 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998).

Moreover, where the evidence of guilt is wholly circumstantial, the evidence is legally sufficient only if it is inconsistent with any reasonable hypothesis of innocence. Darling v. State, 808 So.2d 145, 155 (Fla. 2002); see State v. Law, 559 So. 2d 187 (Fla. 1989). However, "[t]he state is not required to 'rebut conclusively every possible variation' of events which could be inferred from the evidence, but only to introduce competent evidence which is inconsistent with the Defendant's theory of events. Law at 189 (footnote and citation omitted). "Once that threshold burden is met, it becomes the jury's duty to determine whether the evidence is sufficient to exclude every reasonable hypothesis of innocence beyond a reasonable doubt." Id. Stated differently, "the sole function of for directed the trial court motion verdict in on а circumstantial-evidence case is to determine whether there is prima facie inconsistency between (a) the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the State and (b) the defense theory or theories. Ιf there is such inconsistency, then the question is for the finder of fact to resolve. Orme v. State, 677 So.2d 258, 262 (Fla. 1996).

Furthermore, an aggravating factor may be supported entirely by circumstantial evidence, but the circumstantial evidence must be inconsistent with any reasonable hypothesis which might negate the aggravating factor. <u>Hildwin v. State</u>, 727 So.2d 193, 194 (Fla. 1998).

The State presented sufficient evidence of robbery to support its use as an underlying offense for felony murder, and to support the pecuniary gain aggravator. "Robbery" is defined as a theft when in the course of the taking there is the use of force, violence, assault, or putting in fear. § 812.13(1), Fla. Stat. "In the course of the taking" means the theft occurs "either prior to, contemporaneous with, or subsequent to the taking of the property and if it and the act of taking constitutes a continuous series of acts or events." § 812.13(3)(b), Fla. Stat.

If Appellant's use of force against Ms. Mack was motivated by the theft, he committed a robbery. If, on the other hand, the theft was merely an "afterthought" and did not motivate the homicide, the theft does not constitute a robbery. <u>See e.g. Beasley v. State</u>, 774 So.2d 649 (Fla. 2000). The jury here received an "afterthought" instruction,⁷ but rejected the theory, finding that Appellant killed Ms. Mack during the course of a robbery.

The State presented evidence that Appellant stole a television and jewelry at the time he murdered Tyresa Mack (XXIII 758, 770-72, XXIV 973-980). Appellant does not dispute this evidence (for purposes of this issue), but claims that the State presented no evidence inconsistent with his "afterthought" hypothesis. Appellant cites language in Beasley in support of his argument:

⁷"If the evidence shows that the defendant took the victim's property, but that the taking of the victim's property was an afterthought to the use of force or violence which resulted in the death of the victim, the taking of the victim's property does not constitute robbery" (XXXV 3104).

Where an "afterthought" argument is raised, the defendant's theory is carefully analyzed in light of the entire circumstances of the incident. If there is competent, substantial evidence to uphold the robbery conviction, and no other motive for the murder appears from the record, the robbery conviction will be upheld. Conversely, in those cases where the record discloses that, in committing the murder, the defendant was apparently motivated by some reason other than a desire to obtain the stolen valuable, a conviction for robbery (or the robbery aggravator) will not be upheld.

<u>Beasley</u>, 774 So.2d at 662 (citation and footnote omitted). Because "the record presented in this case disclosed another apparent motivation for the killing," Appellant contends that the evidence was insufficient to support the robbery predicate and the pecuniary gain aggravator.

The State does not read <u>Beasley</u> to mean that evidence of any other motive for a murder necessarily precludes theft as a motive and, as such, robbery as a felony-murder predicate. While evidence of another motive is certainly relevant to the question of whether theft was a motive, it defies reason to assert that a murderer cannot have more than one motive for a murder. Moreover, as long as there is "an inconsistency between the evidence and appellant's assertion that any theft occurred as an afterthought," this Court has affirmed felony murder convictions based upon robbery as the underlying felony. <u>Hess</u> <u>v. State</u>, 794 So.2d 1249 (Fla. 2001).

The evidence here was sufficient to create an inconsistency between the State's theory of robbery and Appellant's assertion of afterthought. Not only were items missing from the scene, but the Ms. Mack's bedroom had been ransacked, and the contents of her purse dumped on the bed (XXIV 838). Such evidence supports the State's position that Appellant did not merely snatch a couple of items on his way out of the victim's apartment, but actively searched for items to steal. Such evidence was absent in <u>Hill v. State</u>, 549 So.2d 179 (Fla. 1989), which Appellant cites in support of his argument that the evidence was insufficient to support robbery and pecuniary gain.

Even if the evidence were insufficient to support robbery as the underlying offense, it would have no effect on the conviction. The jury specifically found that the State had proven felony murder with sexual battery as the underlying offense beyond a reasonable doubt, and found that the State had proven premeditated murder beyond a reasonable doubt. This was not a general verdict; those findings are set forth in the verdict (VIII 1418).

Likewise, even if the pecuniary gain aggravator were not supported by sufficient evidence, such error would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Three valid aggravating circumstances remain: 1) heinous, atrocious and cruel; 2) committed while engaged in a sexual battery; and 3) prior violent felony conviction.

This Court has called prior violent felony conviction and heinous, atrocious, or cruel "two of the most weighty in Florida's sentencing calculus." <u>Sireci v. Moore</u>, 825 So.2d 882 (Fla. 2002). <u>See also Larkins v. State</u>, 739 So.2d 90, 95 (Fla. 1999) (recognizing the presence of the prior violent felony aggravator and heinous, atrocious and cruel as among the most serious aggavators). As such, the presence of these aggravating factors is more likely to render an erroneous aggravating factor harmless. <u>See Sireci</u>

- 48 -

(erroneous cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator is harmless where those "weighty" aggravators remained); <u>Zack v. State</u>, 753 So.2d 9 (Fla. 2000)(erroneous "avoiding a lawful arrest" aggravator harmless error where four other valid aggravators-prior violent felonies; pecuniary gain; heinous, atrocious, and cruel; and cold, calculated, and premeditated, existed); <u>Guzman v. State</u>, 721 So.2d 1155 (Fla. 1998)(erroneous CCP aggravator was harmless with remaining aggravators of prior violent felony; committed in the course of a robbery; heinous, atrocious, or cruel; and avoiding arrest-existed). Accordingly, even if the evidence were insufficient to support the pecuniary-gain aggravator, such error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. ISSUE III DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY REJECTING AN EXPERT'S OPINION TESTIMONY REGARDING ONE ASPECT OF THE MENTAL MITIGATION WHERE THE LAY TESTIMONY CONFLICTED WITH THAT EXPERT'S TESTIMONY? (Restated)

Appellant contends that the trial court abused its discretion by rejecting one of the expert'S opinion testimony regarding one aspect of the mental mitigation where the lay testimony conflicted with that expert's testimony (IB 80. The trial court properly rejected the both the bipolar mood disorder and the schizoaffective disorder. As this Court has held in a capital case, trial courts are free to reject unrebutted expert opinion testimony. Moreover, the expert testimony was contradicted by lay testimony. Additionally, the trial court did not reject this expert's testimony entirely. The trial court accepted this expert's testimony as the basis of a finding of brain damage. Moreover, even if the trial court should have accepted all aspects of this expert's testimony, any error in failing to do so was harmless. The trial court properly rejected certain aspects of the mental mitigation.

Standard of review

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